(Working Papers)

Discretion and supplier selection in public procurement

by Audinga Baltrunaite, Cristina Giorgiantonio, Sauro Mocetti and Tommaso Orlando

1178



Temi di discussione

(Working Papers)

Discretion and supplier selection in public procurement

by Audinga Baltrunaite, Cristina Giorgiantonio, Sauro Mocetti and Tommaso Orlando



DISCRETION AND SUPPLIER SELECTION IN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

by Audinga Baltrunaite*, Cristina Giorgiantonio*, Sauro Mocetti* and Tommaso Orlando*

Abstract

Public procurement outcomes depend on the ability of the procuring agency to select high-performing suppliers. Should public administrations be granted more or less discretion in their decision making? Using Italian data on municipal public works tendered in the period 2009-2013, we study how a reform extending the scope of bureaucrat discretion affects supplier selection. We find that the share of contracts awarded to firms having a local politician among its administrators or shareholders increases, while the (ex-ante) labor productivity of the winning firms decreases, thus suggesting a potential misallocation of public funds. These effects are concentrated among lower quality procurement agencies.

JEL Classification: D72, D73, H57, P16.

Keywords: discretion, supplier selection, public procurement, transparency, corruption.

Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. The Italian regulatory framework	9
3. Data and variables	
4. Empirical strategy	12
5. Results	
5.1 Discretionary procedures and supplier selection	14
5.2 Sensitivity analysis	
5.3 Selection vs. screening of participants	17
5.4 Heterogeneity analysis	19
5.5 Procurement costs and reporting transparency	20
6. Conclusions	21
References	24
Tables and figures	27

^{*} Bank of Italy, Directorate General for Economics, Statistics and Research.

1. Introduction

The criteria by which procuring agencies select their suppliers are a primary element in the design of procurement systems. One important dimension along which these criteria differ is the extent of discretion granted to the procuring agencies, that might range from almost none (as in open competitive auctions) to essentially complete (as in privatelycontracted purchases). Open competitive auctions are seen as a powerful tool to avoid corruption, increase transparency and obtain fair prices (OECD, 2016). However, they are more complex and costly to organize than less formal procedures. Discretion may also allow competent procuring agencies to exploit their local expertise in order to guarantee quality dimensions that are difficult to cover by explicit contractual terms. On the empirical side, lack of consensus on the effects of discretion has two main roots. First, information on procurement outcomes may be incomplete along several dimensions (e.g. the quality of the purchased good is usually unobserved), which frustrates any attempt to provide an overall assessment of the effects of discretion. Second, the effectiveness of more discretionary power being granted to the procuring agency may crucially depend on its ability and integrity and, more generally, on the quality of the surrounding institutional context, as well as the nature, value and complexity of the contract (Bank of Italy, 2014).

This paper provides novel empirical evidence on the real effects of bureaucrat discretion. First, unlike other contributions in the literature which study procurement outcomes, we focus on supplier selection. On the one hand, this different perspective provides insights on the effects of public demand on the economic activity in procurement-related industries. Indeed, as a sizeable amount of resources is dedicated to public procurement, public administrations are important buyers in many sectors. If they happen to favor a flow of resources from healthier to less-performing firms, this may lead to a misallocation of public resources and hinder the cleansing of the market. On the other hand, the *ex-ante* characteristics of the winning firms can provide indirect evidence on the quality

-

^{*} We thank Massimiliano Bratti, Gianmarco Daniele, Giuliana Palumbo, Anna Peta, Paolo Sestito, Giancarlo Spagnolo and seminar participants at the Bank of Italy internal seminars, the Petralia workshop, the Political Economy Workshop of Galatina Summer Meetings, the SIEP Annual Conference in Catania, the ISLE Annual Conference in Rome and the EC Joint Research Center for their helpful comments, and Ivan Triglia for excellent research assistance. The views and opinions expressed in this paper pertain to the authors only and do not represent in any way those of the Bank of Italy.

According to the OECD, about 12% of the GDP is spent in OECD countries on public procurement.

of procurement purchases, under a plausible assumption that a less productive firm would produce a worse outcome (in terms of quantity and/or quality) at a given price/quantity of inputs. Second, we study the heterogeneous effects of discretion on supplier selection along several dimensions of the quality of the procuring agency. This is motivated by the idea that discretion is less effective when granted to public administrations that are less qualified, more opaque and more exposed to the risk of corruption.

To address these (and other related) questions we build a rich and novel dataset combining information on (*i*) public works contracts tendered by Italian municipalities, (*ii*) winning firms' identities, balance-sheet information and ownership structure and (*iii*) identities of local politicians. The identification strategy exploits the fact that the procurement system is characterized by different degrees of discretion granted to administrations depending on tender size, as measured by the base price, and that a policy reform in 2011 relaxed the obligation to use open competitive auctions above a certain threshold. More specifically, before 2011 the use of discretionary (*negotiated*) procedures was severely restricted for public works with base price above €00,000; the reform raised this threshold from €00,000 to €ImIn, thus increasing the scope of discretion of procuring agencies. No other substantial changes concerning bureaucrats' discretion were introduced by the reform.

Using a difference-in-differences (DID) empirical strategy we estimate that broader discretion leads to a large increase in the share of procurement contracts awarded to politically connected firms, i.e. those having a local politicians among its administrators or shareholders and to a decrease of winning firms' ex-ante productivity. The results are robust to alternative measures of political connections and productivity and to accounting for strategic manipulation of the tenders' base price by the procuring agencies. These findings suggest that more discretion results, on average, in a potential misallocation of public funds and in a lower ability of the procuring agency to select the most productive firms.

In order to better understand the mechanisms by which discretion induces changes in the awarding of tender contracts, we further study the different stages of the procurement

In other words, the 2011 reform mainly affected public works contracts of limited value, i.e., with the base price below € mln, and, hence, limited complexity. Moreover, we note that the Italian law does not completely forbid the use of negotiated procedures over the base price threshold: they are indeed allowed under specific conditions (see Section 2 for details). Similarly, the use of such procedures is not completely unrestricted under the threshold. In practice, our data show that the use of negotiations in procurement procedures below the threshold is substantially more frequent than above it.

process. We find that discretion leads to a significant drop in the number of participants, while the composition of the bidding firms' pool in terms of the observables does not change. These results show that discretion induces procuring agencies to more often choose politically connected and low-productivity firms from a smaller, but otherwise similar, pool of participants, highlighting a specific distortion in the screening of candidate firms.

The heterogeneity analysis shows that the negative effects of discretion are concentrated in municipalities characterized by a lower institutional quality, which we proxy by a composite indicator based on measures of corruption risk at the local level, the level of education of politicians and public officials, and the (pre-reform) degree of transparency of the procuring agency (i.e. existence of information on the execution stage). These results suggest that the lack of competence may prevent local procuring agencies from exploiting potential benefits of discretion. Moreover, discretion has adverse effects primarily in more opaque and corrupt environments, in which special interests are more likely to capture public officials intending to pursue private benefits in conflict with public interests.

Finally, we document the absence of information regarding the actual implementation of the project (e.g., cost overruns) for a large number of tenders. Most importantly, we show that higher discretion results in lower transparency. This result is in sharp contrast with the guidelines of several international institutions on public procurement recommending that more discretion to procuring agency should be accompanied by stronger accountability.

This paper contributes to a well-established literature on the trade-off between rules and discretion in public procurement. On the one hand, competitive procedures are often standard in conducting procurement, because of their potential to drive efficiencies, fight corruption and ensure competition (OECD, 2016). Indeed, Di Tella and Schargrodsky (2003) show that limiting bureaucrat discretion in Argentinian procurement improves price rebates. Palguta and Pertold (2017) show that an increase in discretion in the Czech Republic leads to manipulation of base prices and to more tenders awarded to "anonymous" firms. On the other hand, procedures which delegate higher decision making power to local public agencies may be desirable when projects are particularly complex (Bajari et al., 2008); when important quality dimensions are not sufficiently guaranteed by contractual terms (Manelli and Vincent, 1995); to encourage public officials to acquire relevant information (Aghion and Tirole, 1997); to sustain reputational mechanisms and long-term relationships (Spagnolo, 2012; Coviello et al., 2018). Our contribution with respect to these studies is

twofold. First, we provide firm-level evidence on the selection of suppliers, rather than studying tender-level outcomes. Namely, we focus on firms' productivity and a precise measure of political connection.³ The former variable provides insights on the efficiency of the selection process (and indirect evidence on the quality of the outcome). The latter variable is arguably better suited to capture improper ties than other variables, such as localism or firm anonymity, so far used in the literature on the effects of discretion. Second, we argue that the diverging results in the existing literature may be partially explained by the heterogeneity of public agencies and of the environments in which they operate.

Closest to our paper, Coviello et al. (2018) show that discretion is associated with larger chances of repeated wins by the same firm, but appears to have limited effects on *expost* execution of public works in Italian municipalities. Our results provide a less optimistic perspective on the effects of discretion on the functioning of procurement procedures and on its aggregate consequences. Indeed, we find that discretion leads to an advantage of politically connected and less efficient firms, this being especially true for local procuring agencies with less qualified governance and belonging to environments with higher risk of corruption.⁴ Thus, we also highlight a possible interaction between public sector inefficiencies due to bureaucratic frictions and those due to intentional diversion of resources (i.e., between *passive* and *active waste* as defined in Bandiera et al., 2009).

Last, but not least, our results show that strategic behaviors by public administrations have to be seriously taken into account when dealing with public procurement data. As in Palguta and Pertold (2017), we find evidence of significant manipulation of tender base prices, suggesting that procuring agencies set them strategically to avoid more formal procedures. Moreover, we find that information on execution outcomes are oftentimes not reported, and this lack of transparency worsens when discretion grows. This information manipulation constitutes another example of strategic response by public administrations to

.

In this respect, our study connects to the literature studying procurement performance of firms with politically involved ownership and administration (in the same spirit as Goldman et al., 2013 and Schoenherr, 2017), and of firms that support politicians by monetary means (see, e.g., Baltrunaite, 2017; Mironov and Zhuravskaya, 2016). More broadly, this paper positions itself within a vast literature on political connections and their impact on other outcomes, such as firm value (e.g., Fisman, 2001), access to credit (e.g., Khwaja and Mian, 2005) and general public sector demand (e.g., Cingano and Pinotti, 2013).

We also note that our results confirm those by Coviello et al. (2018) when the same variables are examined. Indeed, though we use a different empirical strategy – exploiting time variation of the threshold induced by the reform instead of a (cross-section) regression discontinuity design around the threshold – and a broader set of public works sectors, we find broadly comparable results in terms of localism of the winning firms and cost overruns.

changes in the institutional set-up.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the Italian institutional setting. Sections 3 and 4 describe the data and the empirical strategy, respectively. Sections 5 shows the main findings, as well as a sensitivity analysis and a wide set of additional results. Section 6 concludes the paper.

2. The Italian Regulatory Framework

The Italian regulatory framework, which enforces the principles of publicity, transparency and equal treatment in the selection of private contractors, identifies three main types of procedures for the awarding of public works: open procedures, restricted procedures and negotiated procedures.⁵

Open procedures and restricted procedures are ordinary procedures for the assignment of public contracts. Both are characterized by limited discretionary powers for administrations in the selection of contractors. They presume the administration is capable of defining, accurately and from the outset, the subject of the contract and the relevant technical specifications, so that bidders may immediately submit definite, non-renegotiable offers. In *open procedures* the procuring agency publishes a contract notice containing, among other things, an accurate description of the subject of the contract. This notice precedes the presentation of the offers by all interested parties and their requisites are verified during the bids' assessment. *Restricted procedures*, instead, start with a pre-qualification phase in which requisites are verified to identify the suppliers which are invited to a subsequent bidding phase.

Negotiated procedures, on the contrary, are characterized by significant discretionary powers for the administration as the procuring agency consults potential suppliers and negotiates the contract conditions with one or more of them. As negotiated procedures depart from the general principle of no bid renegotiation, they are considered exceptional and are admissible only when specific conditions apply (chiefly those related to urgency or lack of appropriate offers or applicants), or for tenders below the established base price threshold

9

.

The regulatory framework disciplines another award procedure, the competitive dialogue. In our analysis we do not consider this procedure because it is very uncommon.

(Decarolis and Giorgiantonio, 2015).6

This paper exploits a reform that took place in July 2011 with the primary aim of accelerating the awarding of public works. The reform raised the base price threshold below which procuring agencies can use negotiated procedures from €00,000 to €mln.⁷ The reform also established that for public contracts between €00,000 and €00,000 the administration had to consult at least five economic operators (as in the period preceding the reform), while for contracts between €00,000 and €mln the administration had to consult at least ten economic operators. Therefore, the reform arguably led to more discretion being granted to procuring agencies in the selection of suppliers.

In order to regulate potential conflict of interest, the Italian Law stipulates the cases in which contemporaneously holding positions in private firms and public sector offices leads to incompatibility with tendering. If the procuring agency is a municipality, the winning supplier must declare that it is not involved in any situation that is likely to entail conflicts of interest with the municipality and the public interests pursued by the municipality. In particular, the role of owner, administrator or legal representative of a firm awarded the tender contracts is not compatible with the office of mayor or municipal council member of the same municipality.⁸

3. Data and Variables

The analysis relies on several sources of information. First, we use a rich dataset, built and managed by Telemat, containing data on all public works contracts tendered by Italian municipalities in the period 2009-2013. It contains information on the main characteristics of each tender: the name of the procuring municipality/agency, the tender date, the type and

_

Under any of these procedures the "lowest price" criterion or "most economically advantageous tender" criterion can be used to award the tender contract. According to the former, the firm offering the lowest price is awarded the contract, provided that this price is not judged to be anomalous by the public administration. According to the latter, not only price, but a range of other parameters specified in the contract notice are assessed (e.g. the quality of the work or the time for completion). For more details see Decarolis and Giorgiantonio (2014).

See Article 4 of Law Decree no. 70/2011, converted into Law no. 106/2011, which modified Article 122(7) of the Legislative Decree no. 163/2006 (the main source of public procurement regulation in the period analyzed in this paper).

See Article 63(2) of the Legislative Decree no. 267/2000.

The period of the analysis is restricted to these dates in order to avoid possibly confounding effects due to other legislative changes prior to 2009 and after 2013.

the description of public works to be procured and the base price. ¹⁰ Moreover, the dataset contains information on tender outcomes, i.e., the name of the firm to which the contract is awarded (henceforth "the winner"), its address and the winning rebate. In addition, we retrieve information on non-winning participants from non-digitized documentation provided by Telemat. We complement these data with information on public works' execution stage, provided by the Italian Anti-corruption Authority (ANAC).

Second, we obtain information on firm characteristics from two databases provided by, respectively, the Cerved Group and the Italian Chambers of Commerce. The former is the Company Accounts Data System (CADS) and contains identity details (name, sector of activity and location of headquarters) as well as information from balance sheets and income statements of Italian limited-liability companies. Around 940,000 firms are recorded, on average, in each year of the period under analysis. The second database (Infocamere) lists the identity of firms' administrators and shareholders (up to the fourth tier of ownership). Around 2,450,000 distinct individuals are identified as administrators and 6,230,000 as shareholders for the entire 2009-2013 period.

Finally, information on local politicians comes from the Registry of Local Administrators managed by the Italian Ministry of the Interior. It covers between 115,000 and 135,000 individuals per year, holding any municipal office, both elected (mayors and *consiglieri*, i.e. members of the municipal council) and appointed (*assessori*, i.e. members of the executive committee).

Our dataset is built by combining information from these sources. First, we merge information on the identity of firms' administrators and shareholders with that on the identity of local politicians. This allows us to construct a year-specific measure of each firm's political connections, defined as follows: for each firm i and each year t, we say that i is politically connected at t if at least one of the administrators or shareholders of i is recorded as a local politician in year t or in any year prior to t.

In our main analysis, we consider tenders with base price between €200,000 and €800,000 and whose winner can be identified on the basis of the winner's name or through the identification code. The former restriction is implemented in order to obtain a symmetric interval around the €500,000 threshold affected by the reform. The resulting sample contains

The official classification of public works distinguishes among 13 OG categories for general works (e.g., civic and industrial buildings; roads, railways and bridges; dams, etc.) and 35 OS categories for specialized works (e.g., ground works; demolition; waste disposal plants; etc.).

9,079 tender procedures. We then associate each procedure with the information on winning firms, including their political connections and other firm-level variables.

Table 1 shows the main descriptive statistics for all variables included in the empirical analysis. Overall, there is a marked increase in the share of negotiated procedures above the €500,000 threshold. About 8% of winners are politically connected in the year the contract is awarded to them; the fraction of connected winner increases after the reform, primarily among tenders above the threshold. In contrast, firms' labor productivity (and total factor productivity) decreases above the threshold (against an increase below the threshold).

4. Empirical Strategy

We analyze whether and how the reform extending the scope of bureaucrat discretion affects the characteristics of the winning firm. In our empirical analysis we run tender-level regressions using information on public works procured by Italian municipalities in the period 2009-2013. As explained in Section 3, for each tender we observe, among other variables, the characteristics of the contract and of the winning firm (our dependent variables), the base price (to distinguish between tenders affected and unaffected by the reform) and the date of the tender (to distinguish between the periods before and after the reform). We use a DID estimation to compare the change in the outcome variable for tenders above and below the threshold of €00,000, before and after the reform of 2011. Formally, we estimate the following linear model:

$$Y_{imt} = \alpha + \beta_A ABOVE_i + \beta_P POST_t + \gamma ABOVE_i \times POST_t + \delta' X_{imt} + \varepsilon_{imt}$$

where Y_{imt} is the outcome variable for procedure i in municipality m at time t; $ABOVE_i$ is an indicator for procedures with a base price above $\mathfrak{S}00,000$; $POST_t$ is an indicator for procedures executed after the introduction of the reform¹¹; $ABOVE_i \times POST_t$ is the interaction between the two indicators. The coefficient of interest is γ . We augment the specification with a broad set of controls (X_{imt}) that include indicators for the type of works,

_

We exclude tenders in the three-month window around the date of the reform. This is done to avoid any potential misclassification of tender procedures as subject to the new rules (e.g., due to incomplete enforcement of the law in the weeks immediately following its approval). We also point out that our results are robust to perturbations of this temporal window.

the object of the contract, a flexible control function in the base price (fourth-degree polynomial), predetermined winning firm characteristics and the main socio-demographic characteristics of the municipality. We also include sector-specific and province-specific non-parametric time trends to capture, respectively, sector-specific shocks and the local economic cycle.

In our setting, a regression discontinuity design would seem feasible (as in, e.g., Spagnolo, 2012; Coviello and Mariniello, 2014; Coviello et al., 2018). However, the existence of a treatment being a discontinuous function of an assignment variable is not sufficient to justify the validity of a RDD. In our setting, RDD can be invalid if public officials strategically manipulate the base price of the procedure in order to gain (unobserved) benefits.

To examine the potential presence of strategic behavior of the municipality in setting the base prices, Figure 1 plots the empirical distribution of the base price of public works tendered before and after the reform, with contracts grouped into 300 bins for each period. There is an evident spike below the €00,000 threshold in both periods, though it is substantially larger in the pre-reform period. This reveals that municipalities strategically respond to the discontinuous change in procedural costs across the threshold by manipulating the base price so that it falls below it. In the pre-reform period this is presumably due to bureaucrats' reluctance to use less discretionary open procedures, while in the post-reform period such behavior may be driven by lower administrative costs of (and, possibly, marginally higher discretion in) administering negotiated procedures with five suppliers rather than ten (see Section 2). Moreover, above the threshold the publicity requirements are also higher (Coviello and Mariniello, 2014).

This empirical feature of the data poses serious threats to the application of RDD methods in our setting. Therefore, we base our analysis on DID estimations. They allow us to exploit the full range of data instead of using the observations around the cut-off and, therefore, may be less sensitive to the manipulation of treated and control units. Moreover, observations *above* the cut-off are very sparse. In fact, in Section 5.2 we show that our DID results are robust to tackling issues related to strategic manipulation of the base price around the threshold. Last, but not the least, unlike local methods which deliver local treatment

_

This pattern is most prevalent among negotiated procedures, while competitive auctions are more smoothly distributed (results available upon request).

effects, the DID estimates uncover average treatment effects (ATE), which may be easier to interpret from the policy making perspective.

5. Results

We discuss our results in several steps, as follows. First, in Section 5.1. we examine the impact of the reform on the use of negotiated procedures and the characteristics of the winning firm, namely its political connections and (ex-ante) labor productivity. Section 5.2 presents a sensitivity analysis. Section 5.3 aims to disentangle whether our results are driven by a variation in the selection of tender participants or by the screening process within the pool of participants. We then examine the heterogeneous effects of discretion across municipalities characterized by different quality of the institutional setting in Section 5.4. Finally, we examine whether increased discretion affects variables directly related to the functioning of procurement process (Section 5.5).

5.1 Discretionary procedures and supplier selection

Table 2 shows the results of DID regressions, based on a linear probability model, with an indicator for contracts awarded using the negotiated procedure as dependent variable. The estimates show that the reform led to a 16 percentage points increase in the use of negotiated procedures. The coefficient is statistically significant and highly stable across specifications, starting with the most parsimonious one in column 1 to the most stringent one in column 5.

We then examine the impact of the reform on supplier selection. First, we study whether and to what extent discretion is associated to tender contracts awarded to politically connected firms. Table 3 shows the results of DID regressions. The dependent variable is our measure of political connection (see Section 3), i.e. an indicator for whether any of the winning firm's current administrators/shareholders ever held a political office. The point estimates are positive, significant and highly stable across different specifications: they suggest that the reform led to a 3.6 percentage points increase in the presence of politically connected firms among the winners of tender contracts. This is a sizeable effect, amounting to a roughly 45% increase with respect to the sample mean.

Second, we examine the effects of the reform on the (ex-ante) productivity of winning firms (Table 4). The dependent variable is the firm's value added over its wage bill, measured in the year prior to the tender. Negative, statistically significant and stable point estimates imply that increasing bureaucrat discretion leads to awarding tender contracts to firms with lower labor productivity. The magnitude of such decrease accounts for around 9% of the dependent variable's sample mean. ¹³

Overall, this evidence is consistent with patterns of inefficient allocation of public funds: broader discretion in the hands of the public administrations does not only increase the share of tender contracts awarded to politically connected firms, but also induces allocative inefficiencies, as public resources flow to less productive firms.

5.2 Sensitivity analysis

Table 5 shows that our results are not sensitive to using alternative definitions for the main outcomes of interest. ¹⁴ In particular, in column 1 we use an alternative definition of political connections that allows for longer-lasting business-politics relationships: we include in the connected firms' group also these firms that had politicians on the board or among shareholders in the past. To corroborate the evidence on lower productivity, in column 2 we use a measure of total factor productivity, in lieu of labor productivity. The results are unchanged when compared to Tables 3 and 4, respectively.

Next, we examine discretion's effects on *localism*, i.e. on the possibility that public administrations may favor local firms, in order, for instance, to promote local employment. To capture localism, in column 3 we use an indicator for the winning firm being located in the same province as the tendering municipality (as in Coviello et al., 2018). The results reveal a positive effect of discretion, in line with the previous literature. Importantly, the size of the effect is substantially smaller compared to the sample mean, suggesting that localism may capture just one of a broader set of characteristics shared by politically connected firms.

_

Alternatively, one can directly estimate the effect of the use of negotiated procedure in two-stage estimations, in which the reform is used as an instrument. The results on both political connections and productivity are confirmed. Moreover, the point estimates are significant and larger in magnitude due to the entire effect of the reform being attributed to the use of the negotiated procedures. The results are available upon request.

In the subsequent analysis we only show estimates from the most stringent regression specification, analogous to the one in column 5 of Tables 2-4 (unless differently specified).

Moreover, we check whether the effects of discretion on political connections can be explained by the choice of a local *and* politically connected firm. To do so, we include a *Local firm* indicator as a (bad) control in regressions assessing the impact of the reform on political connections (column 4). The latter is virtually unchanged with respect to the main results in Table 3, which suggests that our main result cannot be accounted for by the covariance between localism and political connections.

We further distinguish between politically aligned connections (i.e., those in which the politician within the firm and the local government share the same political leaning) and those that are not, respectively in columns 5 and 6. As expected, the overall increase in the share of politically connected winning is largely driven by connections characterized by ideological proximity. Finally, in columns 7 and 8 we show that results on political connections and productivity are confirmed also in stringent regressions specifications including municipality fixed effects.¹⁵

As discussed in Section 4, there is evidence that public administrations strategically alter the base price of the tender contract in order to fall below the $\circlearrowleft 00,000$ threshold. We verify that our results are unaffected by base price manipulation. Similarly to the *donut RDD* approach (Barreca et al., 2011), we exclude observations close to the threshold that are potentially subject to manipulation and replicate regressions for our main dependent variables (Table 6). For easier comparison, column 1 is analogous to column 5 of Tables 3 and 4, respectively, for the variables measuring political connection and labor productivity. Columns 2-5 replicate the same regression specification in samples which exclude observations within symmetric intervals around the threshold ranging from $\pm \circlearrowleft 10,000$ to $\pm \circlearrowleft 1000$. The coefficient estimates are fairly unchanged with respect to the baseline. This suggests that the manipulation is not specifically related to qualitative characteristics of the winning suppliers and is more likely to reflect administrative reasons such as the preference of procuring agencies to use less complex and costly procedures (e.g., because of the lower

-

We note that only municipalities with multiple observations spanning both pre-reform and post-reform period contribute to the identification of the coefficient. Due to the resulting sample selection and the considerable loss of variability in the data (i.e. there are few observations for each municipality), we prefer not to use this specification as the preferred one and keep it in the sensitivity analysis.

We also point out that manipulation away from the threshold (e.g., because local administrations split large public works in multiple smaller projects so that each single tender falls below the threshold) is unlikely in our setting. First, splitting large public works in multiple (smaller) projects is forbidden by the law. Second, the average base price does not respond to the reform (see Table 1), as one would expect in presence of manipulation. Indeed, Figure 1 shows no shifts in base price density away from the threshold.

minimum number of operators they are required to invite in procedures below the cut-off).

Next, we make sure that our results are not driven by the sample restrictions implemented to obtain a homogeneous sample (as explained in Section 3). Columns 1 to 3 of Table 7 replicate the analysis for the main dependent variables using the €00,000 cut-off in the extended sample of public works with base price ranging from €40,000 to €1mln. 17 The results are qualitatively unchanged. Moreover, we exploit the variation induced by the reform at the € mln threshold: the new norms made the use of negotiated procedures easier below this cut-off, while nothing changed above it. We restrict the sample to tender contracts with the base price higher than €500,000 in order to isolate changes at the € mln cut-off and run regression analyses analogous to the ones in Section 5.1. The coefficient of interest in the one on the interaction term $BELOW_i \times POST_t$, where $BELOW_i$ is an indicator for procedures with base price below \bigcirc mln and $POST_t$ is an indicator for procedures executed after the introduction of the reform. Analogous to the results in Section 5.1, column 4 shows that higher discretion leads to a more frequent use of the negotiated procedure below the €1 mln cut-off. Furthermore, columns 5 and 6 confirm that the reform resulted in more tender contracts awarded to politically connected and low productivity firms also at this alternative cut-off.

The credibility of our difference-in-differences identification strategy crucially relies on the assumption that, in absence of the treatment, the outcome variable for the treated and the control units would have followed parallel paths over time. Table 8 shows this assumption to be fulfilled, documenting no changes in the difference between the treated and control units in the two years before the implementation of the reform, while differences in the main outcome variables (political connections and ex-ante productivity) appear from the year of the reform onwards.

5.3 Selection vs. screening of participants

What is the mechanism behind the observed results? On the one hand, they may be driven by changes in the number and in the characteristics of tender participants, if bureaucrats use their discretion to invite more politically connected or less productive firms

-

We exclude tenders below the $\mbox{\em 40,000}$ threshold because data for these small contracts are not gathered systematically.

to tender for public works contracts (*selection of participants*). On the other hand, keeping the pool of participants unchanged, a more discretionary regime allows bureaucrats to pick the "desired" winner more easily. In this case, discretion would be used to manipulate competition among tendering firms, to the advantage of politically connected and/or less productive firms (*screening of participants*). We attempt to distinguish between the two mechanisms by analyzing data on all bidding firms.

We exploit documentation on tender awarding to build a novel dataset on the number of tender participants and their identities. Tender award documents are available in PDF format for most completed tenders. The documentation includes information on the winning firm and, possibly, on participating firms as well. We use text analysis tools to search for and extract fiscal codes of tender participants, which are then used to merge firm-level information. The participant-level dataset covers 3,750 tenders. These unique data allow us to study both quantitative and qualitative effects of the reform on firms competing for procurement. Interestingly, the average characteristics of the winning firms are similar to those observed in the full sample. Moreover, these data show that winning firms are, on average, more likely to be politically connected and, at the same time, less productive than non-winning participants.

In column 1 of Table 9, we examine the effects of the reform on the total number of bidders. The coefficient is negative and statistically significant and implies that due to the reform the number of participants goes down by 13 (against the sample average of 42). This is in line with the idea that open auctions with no restrictions on participation lead to more competitive tendering than negotiated procedures.¹⁸

In the remaining columns of Table 9 we run firm-level regressions to examine the effects of the reform on the qualitative characteristics of participating and winning firms. The dependent variable in columns 2-4 is the indicator for politically connected winners, while in columns 5-7 the dependent variable is productivity of winning firms. We first examine the overall effect of the reform on the presence of politically connected firms among all tender participants (column 2). The point estimate is positive, yet the effect's size is only a third of that found for winners in Table 3. We then investigate the effect separately for winning and non-winning participants. Column 3 replicates the same regression for

_

While this effect is a mechanical short-run consequence of the change in the administrative setting, in the longer run firms may adapt their bidding strategies to changes in market conditions potentially induced by the reform. Yet, our period of observation does not allow us to study such further adjustments.

tender participants which are awarded tender contracts. The point estimate confirms the effects documented in Section 5.1 and shows that we observe a significant and large positive effect on politically connected winners also in the sub-sample of tenders for which we have information on participating firms: the estimates in column 3 associate the reform with a doubling of the share of connected winners. Column 4 replicates such regression only for tender participants which are not awarded tender contracts. The effect of the reform on the presence of connected firms among non-winning firms is virtually null. A similar pattern is present for productivity measures: our estimates show a 10% decrease in the productivity of winning firms, compared to the sub-sample mean, while the productivity of non-winning participants remains unaffected. Therefore, discretion is associated to the selection of more politically connected and less efficient firms from a smaller, but otherwise similar, pool of bidders, highlighting a specific distortion in the screening process.

5.4 Heterogeneity analysis

The main findings of the paper document that discretion leads, on average, to more public works contracts being awarded to politically connected and less productive firms. However, these results might be heterogeneous across different procuring agencies. Indeed, as discussed earlier, the presence of discretion makes expertise, competence and integrity of the local procuring agencies more salient for procurement performance. To study the presence of heterogeneous effects of the reform, we repeat our main empirical exercise splitting the data into subsamples according to characteristics of the local administrations.

In particular, we build a synthetic indicator that combines information from different municipality-level data sources. First, we use an indicator of corruption risk developed by Mocetti and Orlando (2017), based on the number of reported crimes against the public administration in the period 2004-2011, on citizens' trust in local public institutions and perceptions of administrations' integrity. Second, we exploit the idea that individual characteristics of local politicians and local public officials may matter for the functioning of public administration and use their education level as a proxy of human capital and competence (on Italian local politicians see, e.g., Galasso and Nannicini, 2011). Finally, we use a measure of transparency of public administration, defined as the percentage of tenders for which information on the execution stage is available in the period before the reform. We

then rely on a principal component analysis to extract information from these variables. The first principal component explains about 37 percent of the total variance of the underlying variables. Moreover, the composite score is associated with expected signs with each of the input variables (Table 10).

We classify as 'high agency quality' ('low agency quality') those municipalities whose value of the composite indicator is above (below) the median. We then split the sample into the two groups and replicate the analysis for productivity and political connections in each subsample in Table 11. Interestingly, we find that discretion is associated with tender contracts being awarded to politically connected and less productive firms mostly in municipalities with low agency quality. In other words, discretion is more strongly associated with a less efficient choice of the winning firm in municipalities with higher risk of corruption, lower competence of local politicians and local public employees, and a pre-reform record of less transparent procurement processes.

Finally, Table 12 shows that the same pattern is confirmed when we split the sample according to each indicator separately.¹⁹

5.5 Procurement costs and reporting transparency

Although we document adverse effects of discretion on supplier selection, it may be the case that public administrations – and the public opinion – are mostly concerned with final procurement outcomes, such as the prices paid for public works and their quality. Unfortunately, several data limitations make it difficult to fully address this issue. First, information on the quality of the procured works is not available. Second, information on the procurement costs is not clearly interpretable. In particular, our data contains information on *price rebates*, measured as the relative difference between the base price and the award price, and *cost overruns*, measured as the relative difference between the award price and the final total cost of the public work at completion. However, discretion's effects on price rebates may have an ambiguous interpretation: large price reductions might be good for the

_

In unreported evidence we also distinguish between tenders administered by municipalities of different size. The underlying idea is that only larger cities typically possess specialized administrative units devoted to public procurement purchases, which are arguably better equipped with appropriate qualifications and expertise to efficiently manage such procedures. To capture this idea we consider large (small) cities those with more (less) than 50,000 residents. In line with the previous findings, the negative effects of discretion are mostly present in smaller (i.e. presumably less competent) municipalities.

public administration – whenever they correspond to more favorable price conditions – or bad – whenever they induce subsequent price renegotiations (Bajari and Tadelis, 2001; Guasch et al., 2008; Decarolis and Palumbo, 2015). Most important, measuring cost overruns does little to mitigate the situation, as numerous administrations dot not report data on the execution stages (this information is available only for 42% of the tenders). Nevertheless, although caution is needed when dealing with these variables, we use them as outcomes in our regression analyses, as reported in Panels A and B of Table 13.

The results indicate that the impact on price rebates and on cost overruns is virtually zero. However, as explained above, we abstain from the interpretation of such results as they may reflect strategic behavior of the winning firm (in the former case) or may might suffer from severe sample selection bias due to the limited availability of the dependent variable (in the latter case). At most, these findings indicate that favorable price effects do not compensate for poorer supplier selection resulting from higher bureaucrat discretion.

Next, we directly study the propensity of the procuring agency to comply with the reporting requirements for such data, which results in the above-mentioned sample selection. We define an indicator variable that is equal to 1 if information on the execution stage is available and we label it as *Transparency*. Interestingly, we find that the proportion of contracts for which public administrations report data on the execution stages decreases significantly in reaction to the 2011 reform (Table 13, Panel C). This impact is substantial from an economic point of view, as it corresponds to a decrease of nearly 7 percentage points (one sixth of the sample mean). Therefore, expanding bureaucrat discretion seemingly leads to a larger amount of information being withheld by public administrations. Although it is impossible to observe whether information on favorable or negative procurement outcomes is not being reported, this evidence at the very least hints at a decrease in compliance and transparency due to higher discretion.

6. Conclusions

What are the effects of discretion on supplier selection in public procurement? Using Italian data on municipal public works in the period 2009-2013, we study how a reform extending the scope of bureaucrat discretion affects the characteristics of winning firms. We find that the share of contracts awarded to politically connected firms increases, while the

(ex-ante) labor productivity of the winning firm decreases, thus suggesting a potential misallocation of public resources.

To illustrate the active mechanisms, we construct a dataset on tender participants and show novel evidence on the entry stage of public tenders. We document that the pool of participant firms is smaller when discretion is higher, but remains unchanged in terms of firms' observable characteristics. Interestingly, effects on political connections and productivity are pronounced only among tender winners. This evidence highlights the differential effects discretion may have on the separate stages of supplier selection.

Regulators often argue that agency costs of discretion may be alleviated through transparency, accountability and monitoring (e.g., OECD, 2016). The heterogeneity analysis uncovers evidence in support of this policy stance, by showing that the adverse effects are concentrated among municipalities characterized by a higher risk of corruption, less competent politicians and bureaucrats, and by a tradition of lack of transparency in procurement processes. Last but not least, the analysis of execution outcomes further highlights the importance of transparency and accountability in the functioning of public administrations.

Taken together, the evidence we present highlights potential risks implied by expanding bureaucrats' discretionary powers in awarding public contracts. First, regulators aiming at efficient allocation of public resources should carefully assess the multifaceted effects of discretion, considering not just the direct effects on public procurement outcomes, but also the implied effects on the related sectors and their productivity. Second, the results on political connections indicate the presence of significant and tangible benefits for politically connected firms, and thus might be useful for refining the regulation on conflict of interests in public procurement. Third, delegation of decision making to local administration should be subject to appropriate checks and balances. These may, for example, include prerequisites in terms of competence and integrity for public administrations or transparency requirements to facilitate accountability to the regulator and the local community.

The current Italian Public Contracts Code (PCC) approved with the Legislative Decree no. 50/2016²⁰ reorganizes the functions of procuring agencies, providing for a greater centralization and the introduction of a special qualification system in order to increase the

_

Which repealed the previous PPC (Legislative Decree no. 163/2006, the main source of public procurement regulation in the period analyzed in this paper: see Section 2) and implemented the new European Directives on public contracts (2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU).

professional specialization in the public contracts sector. The proper and fully implementation of such measures seems extremely relevant for limiting agency costs of discretion. Moreover, an enhanced role of the sector Authority (ANAC) in the management of the public contracts database (BDNCP)²¹ may contribute to ensure greater transparency and better information quality. In line with the experiences of other countries (for example, the U.S. and the U.K.), the system could also benefit from a greater access to information on public procurement.

-

Inter alia, in terms of stronger powers to impose sanctions against contracting authorities that do not comply with the provided communication requirements, and duties for the ANAC to make public on a regular basis the results of monitoring the completeness of the BDNCP and sanctions taken against contracting authorities. For more details see Decarolis and Giorgiantonio (2015).

References

Aghion, P., and J. Tirole (1997), "Formal and real authority in organizations." *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 105, pp. 1-29.

Bajari, P., and S. Tadelis (2001), "Incentives versus transaction costs: a theory of procurement contracts." *RAND Journal of Economics*, vol. 32, pp. 387-407.

Bajari, P., R. McMillan and S. Tadelis (2008), "Auctions versus negotiations in procurement: an empirical analysis." *Journal of Law, Economics & Organization*, vol. 25, pp. 372-399.

Bank of Italy (2014), "Recepimento delle direttive europee in materia di contratti pubblici (direttive 2014/24/UE sugli appalti pubblici nei settori ordinari e 2014/23/UE sull'aggiudicazione dei contratti di concessione)", testimony by Paolo Sestito, *Chamber of Deputies*, https://www.bancaditalia.it/pubblicazioni/interventi-vari/int-var-2014/sestito-16062014.pdf

Baltrunaite, A. (2017), "Political contributions and public procurement: evidence from Lithuania." *Dondena working paper*, no. 100.

Bandiera, O., A. Prat and T. Valletti (2009), "Active and passive waste in government spending: evidence from a policy experiment." *American Economic Review*, vol. 99, pp. 1278-1308.

Barreca, A.I., M. Guldi, J.M. Lindo and G.R. Waddell (2011), "Saving babies? Revisiting the effect of very low birth weight classification." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 126, pp. 2117-2123.

Cingano, F. and P. Pinotti (2013), "Politicians at work: the private returns and social costs of political connections." *Journal of the European Economic Association*, vol. 11, pp. 433-465.

Coviello, D., A. Guglielmo and G. Spagnolo (2018), "The effect of discretion on procurement performance." *Management Science*, vol. 64, pp. 715-738.

Coviello, D. and M. Mariniello (2014), "Publicity requirements in public procurement: evidence from a regression discontinuity design." *Journal of Public Economics*, vol. 109, pp. 76-100.

Decarolis, F. and C. Giorgiantonio (2014), "Favouritism and inefficiency in procurement: evidence from public works in Italy", in F. Decarolis and M. Frey (eds.), *Public Procurement's Place in the World*, Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 155-183.

Decarolis, F. and C. Giorgiantonio (2015), "Local public procurement regulations: the case of Italy." *International Review of Law and Economics*, vol. 43, pp. 209-226.

Decarolis, F. and G. Palumbo (2015), "Renegotiations of public contracts: an empirical analysis." *Economics Letters*, vol. 132, pp. 77-81.

Di Tella, R. and E. Schargrodsky (2003), "The role of wages and auditing during a crack-down on corruption in the City of Buenos Aires." *Journal of Law and Economics*, vol. 46, pp. 269-292.

Fisman, R. (2001), "Estimating the value of political connections." *American Economic Review*, vol. 91, pp. 1095-1102.

Galasso, V., and T. Nannicini (2011), "Competing on good politicians." *American Political Science Review*, vol. 105, pp. 79-99.

Goldman, E., J. Rocholl and J. So (2013), "Politically connected boards of directors and the allocation of procurement contracts." *Review of Finance*, vol. 17, pp. 1617-1648.

Guasch, J.L., J.J. Laffont and S. Straub (2008), "Renegotiation of concession contracts in Latin America: evidence from the water and transport sectors." *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, vol. 26, pp. 421-442.

Khwaja, A., and A. Mian (2005), "Do lenders favor politically connected firms? Rent provision in an emerging financial market." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 120, pp. 1371-1411.

Manelli, A.M., and D.R. Vincent (1995), "Optimal procurement mechanisms." *Econometrica*, vol. 63, pp. 591-620.

Mironov, M. and E. Zhuravskaya (2016), "Corruption in procurement and the political cycle in tunneling: evidence from financial transactions data." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, vol. 8, pp. 287-221.

Mocetti, S. and T. Orlando (2017), "Corruption and personnel selection and allocation in the public sector." *Bank of Italy occasional papers*, no. 402.

OECD (2016), "Preventing corruption in public procurement." Policy report.

Palguta, J., and F. Pertold (2017), "Manipulation of procurement contracts: evidence from the introduction of discretionary thresholds." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, vol. 9, pp. 239-315.

Schoenherr, D. (2017), "Political Connections and Allocative Distortions." *Journal of Finance*, forthcoming.

Spagnolo, G. (2012), "Reputation, competition and entry in procurement." *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, vol. 30, pp. 291-296.

Tables and figures

Table 1: Descriptive statistics

	All pro	ocedures	Pre-reform, below €500k		Post-refo	Post-reform, below €500k		m, above €500k	Post-refor	m, above €500k
	Mean	Obs.	Mean	Obs.	Mean	Obs.	Mean	Obs.	Mean	Obs.
Base price (100k€)	4.07	9,079	3.22	3,375	3.22	2,995	6.38	1,369	6.38	968
Negotiated procedure	0.24	9,079	0.24	3,375	0.33	2,995	0.01	1,369	0.25	968
Connected winner	0.08	7,651	0.08	2,825	0.09	2,500	0.07	1,159	0.11	844
Generalized connection	0.09	7,651	0.09	2,825	0.10	2,500	0.07	1,159	0.12	844
Productivity	1.50	7,352	1.47	2,684	1.55	2,449	1.51	1,097	1.50	816
TFP	0.47	7,034	0.46	2,548	0.48	2,351	0.48	1,054	0.44	784
Local winner	0.47	9,079	0.48	3,375	0.49	2,995	0.39	1,369	0.45	968
No. participants	41.99	3,750	36.62	1,381	34.36	1,298	65.43	510	50.85	395
Price rebate	0.22	7,409	0.21	2,912	0.23	2,410	0.22	1,073	0.24	707
Transparency	0.42	9,079	0.43	3,375	0.42	2,995	0.44	1,369	0.37	968
Cost ovverruns	0.05	3,739	0.07	1,404	0.05	1,230	0.05	594	0.05	350

Notes. For each variable, we report the mean and the number of available observations over all procedures (columns 1 and 2); over procedures with base price smaller than €500,000, occurring before the reform (columns 3 and 4) and after the reform (columns 5 and 6); and over procedures with base price larger than €500,000 occurring before the reform (columns 7 and 8) and after the reform (columns 8 and 9). The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Base price ($100k \le 1$) is the tender's base price. Negotiated procedure is a binary indicator for negotiated procedures. Connected winner is an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder. Generalized connection is an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current or past administrator/shareholder. Productivity is a measure of labor productivity, measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure. TFP is a measure of total factor productivity, computed as $TFP = \log(\text{value added}) - 0.7 \log(\text{labor costs}) - 0.3 \log(\text{capital stock})$. Local winner is an indicator for whether the winning firm's seat lies in the same province as the tendering municipality. No. participants is the number of bidders. Price rebate is the (absolute value) of the relative price change between the procedure's base price and the award price. Transparency is an indicator for whether information concerning the execution stage of the procedure was made available by the tendering municipality. Cost overruns is the relative variation between the final price paid by the administration and the award price.

Table 2: Discretion

Dependent variable:	Negotiated procedure						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		
$Post \times Above$	0.166***	0.165***	0.157***	0.156***	0.156***		
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)		
Tender controls	X	Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Year FE	X	Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Province FE	X	Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Firm controls		Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Year FE \times Province FE			Χ	Χ	X		
Year $FE \times Sector FE$				Χ	Χ		
Municipal controls					X		
Observations	7,256	7,256	7,236	7,236	7,234		
Adj. R-squared	0.29	0.30	0.34	0.34	0.34		

Notes. The dependent variable is an indicator for negotiated procedures. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. *Post* is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. *Above* is an indicator for procedures with base price above $\in 500,000$. *Tender controls* include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. *Firm controls* refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as *Sector FE*) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. *Municipal controls* include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 3: Political connections

Dependent variable:	Wi	inning firm v	with politica	l connection	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
$Post \times Above$	0.036**	0.033**	0.036**	0.038**	0.036**
	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.015)
Tender controls	X	X	X	X	X
Year FE	X	Χ	Χ	Χ	X
Province FE	X	X	X	X	X
Firm controls		X	X	X	X
Year FE \times Province FE			X	X	X
Year $FE \times Sector FE$				X	X
Municipal controls					X
Observations	7,164	7,164	7,144	7,144	7,142
Adj. R-squared	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.05

Notes. The dependent variable is an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above \in 500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 4: Productivity

Dependent variable:	Ratio between value added and labor costs						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		
$Post \times Above$	-0.115**	-0.114^{**}	-0.134**	-0.138**	-0.140***		
	(0.054)	(0.054)	(0.055)	(0.054)	(0.054)		
Tender controls	Χ	X	X	Χ	X		
Year FE	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ		
Province FE	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ		
Firm controls		Χ	Χ	X	Χ		
Year FE \times Province FE			Χ	Χ	Χ		
Year FE × Sector FE				Χ	Χ		
Municipal controls					Χ		
Observations	6,885	6,885	6,867	6,866	6,864		
Adj. R-squared	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02		

Notes. The dependent variable is the winning firm's labor productivity, measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and total labor costs in the year prior to the procedure. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above $\in 500,000$. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 5: Robustness analyses

	Alternative measures		Localism		Political	l leaning	Municipal FEs	
Dependent variable:	Generalized connection	TFP	Local firm	Connected winner	Same political area	Different political area	Connected winner	Productivity
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
$Post \times Above$	0.035**	-0.063**	0.052*	0.037**	0.023**	0.016	0.045**	-0.213^{***}
	(0.016)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.015)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.019)	(0.075)
Local firm				-0.006				
				(0.008)				
Tender controls	X	Χ	X	X	X	X	X	X
Firm controls	X	Χ	X	X	X	X	X	X
Year FE \times Province FE	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	Χ	Χ	X	X	X	X	X	Χ
Municipal controls	X	Χ	X	Χ	Χ	Χ		
Municipal FE							X	Χ
Observations	7,142	6,557	7,234	7,142	7,099	7,099	5,804	5,549
Adj. R-squared	0.06	0.04	0.13	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.08	0.01

Notes. The dependent variables are: an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current or past administrator/shareholder (column 1); a measure of total factor productivity, computed as $TFP = \log(\text{value added}) - 0.7 \log(\text{labor costs}) - 0.3 \log(\text{capital stock})$ (column 2); an indicator for whether the winning firm's seat lies in the same province as the tendering municipality (column 3); an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (columns 4 and 7) and (at least one) such person and the tendering administration belong to the same political area (column 5; the political areas considered are: left, right, center, Movimento 5 Stelle and *lista civica*) or, contrariwise, whether the firm is politically connected but no connecting individual belongs to the same political area as the tendering administration's (column 6); the winning firm's labor productivity (column 8). The unit of observation is procurement procedure. *Post* is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. *Above* is an indicator for procedures with base price above $\in 500,000$. *Tender controls* include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. *Firm controls* refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as *Sector FE*) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. *Municipal controls* include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 6: Donut difference-in-differences estimations

		Panel A					
Dependent variable:	Connected winner						
Size of donut	0	+/- 10k	+/- 15k	+/- 20k	+/- 25k		
$Post \times Above$	0.036**	0.040**	0.041***	0.041**	0.038**		
	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.016)		
Observations	7,142	6,840	6,769	6,685	6,612		
Adj. R-squared	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05		
		Panel B					
Dependent variable:		F	Productivity				
Size of donut	0	+/- 10k	+/- 15k	+/- 20k	+/- 25k		
$Post \times Above$	-0.140***	-0.136**	-0.132**	-0.133**	-0.134**		
	(0.054)	(0.057)	(0.058)	(0.057)	(0.058)		
Tender controls	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Firms controls	Χ	Χ	Χ	X	X		
Year FE \times Province FE	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	X		
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ		
Municipal controls	Χ	X	Χ	X	X		
Observations	6,864	6,573	6,505	6,423	6,354		
Adj. R-squared	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02		

Notes. The dependent variables are an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (panel A) and labor productivity (measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure, panel B). Columns 1-5 report the result of an analysis which is analogous to that in column 5 of Table 3 (Panel A) and 4 (Panel B), with the exception that all observations whose base price lies in a neighborhood of the \in 500,000 threshold, of the size indicated above each columns, are dropped. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. *Post* is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. *Above* is an indicator for procedures with base price above \in 500,000. *Tender controls* include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. *Firm controls* refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as *Sector FE*) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. *Municipal controls* include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, *** p < 0.5, **** p < 0.01).

Table 7: Alternative samples

Sample: Threshold:	From 40k€ to 1mln€ 500k€			Over 500k€ 1mln€				
Dependent variable:	Negotiated procedure (1)	Connected winner (2)	Productivity (3)	Negotiated procedure (4)	Connected winner (5)	Productivity (6)		
$Post \times Above$	0.122*** (0.021)	0.029** (0.013)	-0.107^{**} (0.047)					
$Post \times Below$, ,	` ,	,	0.215*** (0.020)	0.056*** (0.021)	-0.338** (0.170)		
Tender controls	X	Χ	Χ	X	X	X		
Firm controls	X	Χ	Χ	X	X	Χ		
Year FE \times Province FE	X	Χ	Χ	X	X	Χ		
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	X	Χ	Χ	X	Χ	Χ		
Municipal controls	X	Χ	Χ	X	X	Χ		
Observations	10,986	10,823	10,442	4,310	4,269	4,049		
Adj. R-squared	0.35	0.03	0.02	0.32	0.08	0.02		

Notes. The dependent variables are: an indicator for negotiated procedures (columns 1 and 4); an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current aministrator/shareholder (columns 2 and 5); the winning firm's labor productivity (columns 3 and 6). Columns 1–3 repeat our baseline analysis using the same threshold and an extended sample that contains all procedures whose base price lies between 40,000 and 1mln€. Columns 4–6 use 1mln€ as threshold and all procedures whose base price exceeds 500,000€. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above €500,000. Below is an indicator for procedures with base price below €500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.5).

Table 8: Trend analysis

Dependent variable:	Connected winner	Productivity
2010 × Above	0.009	-0.082
	(0.020)	(0.080)
$2011 \times Above$	0.046**	-0.050
	(0.022)	(0.084)
$2012 \times Above$	0.038^{*}	-0.235^{***}
	(0.022)	(0.080)
$2013 \times Above$	0.053**	-0.216^{**}
	(0.025)	(0.087)
Tender controls	X	X
Firm controls	X	X
Year FE \times Province FE	X	X
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	X	X
Municipal controls	X	X
Observations	7,464	7,167
Adj. R-squared	0.05	0.02

Notes. The dependent variables are an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (column 1) and labor productivity (measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure, column 2). Column 1 and 2 respectively repeat the analysis of column 5 in Tables 3 and 4, estimating yearly coefficients. The baseline year is 2009. The unit of observation is procurement procedure. *Above* is an indicator for procedures with base price above €500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limitedliability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 9: Entry

Dependent variable:	Number of bidders	(Connected firms			Productivity		
		All	Winners	Non-winners	All	Winners	Non-winners	
$Post \times Above$	-13.462**	0.010*	0.078***	0.003	-0.050	-0.179*	-0.034	
	(6.691)	(0.005)	(0.024)	(0.006)	(0.039)	(0.104)	(0.043)	
Tender controls	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
Firm controls	X	X	Χ	X	Χ	Χ	X	
Year FE \times Province FE	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	Χ	X	X	X	Χ	Χ	X	
Municipal controls	X	X	Χ	X	Χ	Χ	X	
Observations	3,073	38,224	3,007	35,121	36,616	2,925	33,589	
Adj. R-squared	0.35	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.03	

Notes. The dependent variables are: the number of bidding firms (column 1); an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (columns 2-4) and labor productivity (measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure, columns 4-6). The unit of observation is procurement procedure in column 1 and participant firm elsewhere. Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above \in 500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 10: Quality of the procuring agency: principal component analysis

	1st component	2nd component	3rd component	4th component	
Eigenvalue	1.468	0.957	0.888	0.687	
Proportion	0.367	0.239	0.222	0.172	
Cumulative	0.367	0.606	0.828	1.000	
	Corruption risk	Politicians'	Bureaucrats'	Transparency	
	Corruption risk	human capital	human capital		
Coeff. 1st component	-0.603	0.325	0.522	0.508	

Notes. Results of the principal component analysis. *Corruption risk* is a composite indicator of corruption risk based on the incidence of corruption and related crimes and on perceived corruption at the local level. *Politicians' human capital* and *Bureaucrats' human capital* are measured by the share of, respectively, local politicians and local public employees holding at least a college degree. *Transparency* is a municipal-level indicator measuring the pre-reform share of contracts tendered by each municipality for which information concerning the execution stage was made available.

Table 11: Heterogeneity: aggregate index

Dependent variable:	Connected	l winner	Productivity	
Agency quality	Low	High	Low	High
$Post \times Above$	0.046**	0.033	-0.247^{***}	-0.008
	(0.022)	(0.023)	(0.091)	(0.073)
Observations	3,262	3,330	3,085	3,232
Adj. R-squared	0.04	0.06	-0.00	0.07
Tender controls	Χ	Χ	Χ	Х
Firm controls	Χ	X	X	X
Year FE \times Province FE	Χ	X	X	X
Year $FE \times Sector FE$	Χ	X	X	X
Municipal controls	Χ	X	X	X

Notes. The dependent variables are an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (columns 1 and 2) and labor productivity (measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure, columns 3 and 4). The unit of observation is procurement procedure. The sample is split according to whether the tendering municipality lies above or below the overall median of the index of agency quality obtained by a principal component analysis of indicators of corruption risk, education of local politicians and public employees, and a transparency index (see Table 10). Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above €500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limitedliability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 12: Heterogeneity: components

Dependent variable:	Connected	winner	Produc	tivity
Panel A: Corruption risk	Low	High	Low	High
$Post \times Above$	0.031	0.042**	-0.011	-0.223**
	(0.025)	(0.020)	(0.056)	(0.095)
Observations	3,368	3,338	3,286	3,150
Adj. R-squared	0.06	0.01	0.06	0.01
Panel B: Politicians' human capital	Low	High	Low	High
$Post \times Above$	0.055**	0.028	-0.175^{**}	-0.095
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.083)	(0.090)
Observations	3,232	3,372	3,086	3,246
Adj. R-squared	0.03	0.08	-0.00	0.04
Panel C: Bureaucrats' human capital	Low	High	Low	High
$Post \times Above$	0.042*	0.031	-0.182**	-0.058
	(0.022)	(0.024)	(0.087)	(0.089)
Observations	3,273	3,345	3,103	3,229
Adj. R-squared	0.04	0.05	0.00	0.05
Panel D: Transparency	Low	High	Low	High
$Post \times Above$	0.040^{*}	0.034	-0.190*	-0.080
	(0.021)	(0.025)	(0.099)	(0.070)
Observations	3,344	3,257	3,174	3,154
Adj. R-squared	0.04	0.05	-0.01	0.06
Tender controls	Χ	X	Χ	Χ
Firm controls	X	X	Χ	Χ
Year FE \times Province FE	X	X	Χ	Χ
Year FE \times Sector FE	X	X	X	Χ
Municipal controls	Χ	Χ	X	X

Notes. The dependent variables are an indicator for whether the winning firm is politically connected through a current administrator/shareholder (columns 1 and 2) and labor productivity (measured as the ratio between the winning firm's value added and labor costs in the year prior to the procedure, columns 3 and 4). The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Panels A-C split the sample according to whether the tendering municipality lies above or below the overall median of, respectively, a composite indicator of corruption risk (Panel A); the share of local politicians holding at least a college degree (Panel B); the share of public employees holding at least a college degree (Panel C); the pre-reform share of contracts for which information concerning the execution stage was made available (Panel D). Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above €500,000. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Table 13: Procurement costs and reporting transparency

		Panel A			
Dependent variable:			Price rebate		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
$Post \times Above$	-0.000	-0.001	-0.008	-0.008	-0.007
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Observations	5,919	5,919	5,887	5,883	5,881
Adj. R-squared	0.23	0.23	0.34	0.34	0.37
		Panel B			
Dependent variable:		C	Cost overruns	3	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
$Post \times Above$	0.016	0.016	0.009	0.011	0.011
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.022)	(0.021)
Observations	2,907	2,907	2,816	2,807	2,806
Adj. R-squared	0.15	0.15	0.21	0.21	0.21
		Panel C			
Dependent variable:		Т	ransparency		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
$Post \times Above$	-0.050^{*}	-0.047^{*}	-0.063**	-0.065**	-0.066^{*}
	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)
Observations	7,256	7,256	7,236	7,236	7,234
Adj. R-squared	0.11	0.12	0.14	0.14	0.14
Tender controls	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	X
Year FE	X	Χ	Χ	Χ	X
Province FE	X	Χ	X	Χ	X
Firm controls		X	X	X	X
Year FE \times Province FE			X	X	X
Year FE \times Sector FE				X	X
Municipal controls					X

Notes. The dependent variables are: price rebate, measured as the difference between the base price and the award price (normalized by the base price, Panel A); the cost overrun, measured as the difference between the award price and the final cost of the public work (normalized by the award price, Panel B); and an indicator for tenders for which information concerning the execution stage was made available (Panel C). The unit of observation is procurement procedure. Post is an indicator for procedures taking place after the reform. Above is an indicator for procedures with base price above $\in 500,000$. Tender controls include a vector of indicators for the category of public works and a 4th-degree polynomial in base price. Firm controls refer to the winning firm and include a sector indicator (Ateco 2-digit classification, also denoted as Sector FE) and a set of legal form indicators, distinguishing limited-liability firms, joint stock companies and a residual category. Municipal controls include population, altitude, average per capita income and share of inhabitants holding a college degree. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level (* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.5, *** p < 0.01).

Figure 1: Contract density



RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 1152 *International financial flows and the risk-taking channel*, by Pietro Cova and Filippo Natoli (December 2017).
- N. 1153 Systemic risk and systemic importance measures during the crisis, by Sergio Masciantonio and Andrea Zaghini (December 2017).
- N. 1154 Capital controls, macroprudential measures and monetary policy interactions in an emerging economy, by Valerio Nispi Landi (December 2017).
- N. 1155 *Optimal monetary policy and fiscal policy interaction in a non-Ricardian economy*, by Massimiliano Rigon and Francesco Zanetti (December 2017).
- N. 1156 Secular stagnation, R&D, public investment and monetary policy: a global-model perspective, by Pietro Cova, Patrizio Pagano, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (December 2017).
- N. 1157 *The CSPP at work: yield heterogeneity and the portfolio rebalancing channel*, by Andrea Zaghini (December 2017).
- N. 1158 Targeting policy-compliers with machine learning: an application to a tax rebate programme in Italy, by Monica Andini, Emanuele Ciani, Guido de Blasio, Alessio D'Ignazio and Viola Salvestrini (December 2017).
- N. 1159 Banks' maturity transformation: risk, reward, and policy, by Pierluigi Bologna (December 2017).
- N. 1160 Pairwise trading in the money market during the European sovereign debt crisis, by Edoardo Rainone (December 2017).
- N.1161 Please in my back yard: the private and public benefitsof a new tram line in Florence, by Valeriia Budiakivska and Luca Casolaro (January 2018).
- N. 1162 *Real exchange rate misalignments in the euro area*, by by Michael Fidora, Claire Giordano and Martin Schmitz (January 2018).
- N. 1163 What will Brexit mean for the British and euro-area economies? A model-based assessment of trade regimes, by Massimiliano Pisani and Filippo Vergara Caffarelli (January 2018).
- N. 1164 Are lenders using risk-based pricing in the consumer loan market? The effects of the 2008 crisis, by Silvia Magri (January 2018).
- N. 1165 Listening to the buzz: social media sentiment and retail depositors' trust by Matteo Accornero and Mirko Moscatelli (February 2018)
- N. 1166 *Banks' holdings of and trading in government bonds*, by Michele Manna and Stefano Nobili (March 2018).
- N. 1167 Firms' and households' investment in Italy: the role of credit constraints and other macro factors, by Claire Giordano, Marco Marinucci and Andrea Silvestrini (March 2018).
- N. 1168 Credit supply and productivity growth, by Francesco Manaresi and Nicola Pierri (March 2018).
- N. 1169 Consumption volatility risk and the inversion of the yield curve, by Adriana Grasso and Filippo Natoli (March 2018).
- N. 1170 *The global component of inflation volatility*, by Andrea Carriero, Francesco Corsello and Massimiliano Marcellino (April 2018).
- N. 1171 *The potential of big housing data: an application to the Italian real-estate market*, by Michele Loberto, Andrea Luciani and Marco Pangallo (April 2018).
- N. 1172 ECB monetary policy and the euro exchange rate, by Martina Cecioni (April 2018).
- N. 1173 *Firms' investments during two crises*, by Antonio De Socio and Enrico Sette (April 2018).
- N. 1174 *How can the government spending multiplier be small at the zero lower bound?*, by Valerio Ercolani and João Valle e Azevedo (April 2018).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:
Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via
Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- ALBANESE G., G. DE BLASIO and P. SESTITO, My parents taught me. evidence on the family transmission of values, Journal of Population Economics, v. 29, 2, pp. 571-592, **TD No. 955 (March 2014).**
- ANDINI M. and G. DE BLASIO, *Local development that money cannot buy: Italy's Contratti di Programma*, Journal of Economic Geography, v. 16, 2, pp. 365-393, **TD No. 915 (June 2013).**
- BARONE G. and S. MOCETTI, *Inequality and trust: new evidence from panel data*, Economic Inquiry, v. 54, pp. 794-809, **TD No. 973 (October 2014).**
- BELTRATTI A., B. BORTOLOTTI and M. CACCAVAIO, *Stock market efficiency in China: evidence from the split-share reform*, Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance, v. 60, pp. 125-137, **TD No. 969** (October 2014).
- BOLATTO S. and M. SBRACIA, *Deconstructing the gains from trade: selection of industries vs reallocation of workers*, Review of International Economics, v. 24, 2, pp. 344-363, **TD No. 1037 (November 2015).**
- BOLTON P., X. FREIXAS, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Relationship and transaction lending in a crisis*, Review of Financial Studies, v. 29, 10, pp. 2643-2676, **TD No. 917 (July 2013).**
- BONACCORSI DI PATTI E. and E. SETTE, *Did the securitization market freeze affect bank lending during the financial crisis? Evidence from a credit register*, Journal of Financial Intermediation, v. 25, 1, pp. 54-76, **TD No. 848 (February 2012).**
- BORIN A. and M. MANCINI, Foreign direct investment and firm performance: an empirical analysis of *Italian firms*, Review of World Economics, v. 152, 4, pp. 705-732, **TD No. 1011 (June 2015).**
- BRAGOLI D., M. RIGON and F. ZANETTI, *Optimal inflation weights in the euro area,* International Journal of Central Banking, v. 12, 2, pp. 357-383, **TD No. 1045 (January 2016).**
- BRANDOLINI A. and E. VIVIANO, *Behind and beyond the (headcount) employment rate,* Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A, v. 179, 3, pp. 657-681, **TD No. 965 (July 2015).**
- BRIPI F., *The role of regulation on entry: evidence from the Italian provinces*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 30, 2, pp. 383-411, **TD No. 932 (September 2013).**
- BRONZINI R. and P. PISELLI, *The impact of R&D subsidies on firm innovation*, Research Policy, v. 45, 2, pp. 442-457, **TD No. 960 (April 2014).**
- BURLON L. and M. VILALTA-BUFI, A new look at technical progress and early retirement, IZA Journal of Labor Policy, v. 5, **TD No. 963 (June 2014).**
- BUSETTI F. and M. CAIVANO, *The trend-cycle decomposition of output and the Phillips Curve: bayesian estimates for Italy and the Euro Area, Empirical Economics*, V. 50, 4, pp. 1565-1587, **TD No. 941 (November 2013).**
- CAIVANO M. and A. HARVEY, *Time-series models with an EGB2 conditional distribution*, Journal of Time Series Analysis, v. 35, 6, pp. 558-571, **TD No. 947 (January 2014).**
- CALZA A. and A. ZAGHINI, *Shoe-leather costs in the euro area and the foreign demand for euro banknotes*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 12, 1, pp. 231-246, **TD No. 1039 (December 2015).**
- CESARONI T. and R. DE SANTIS, *Current account "core-periphery dualism" in the EMU*, The World Economy, v. 39, 10, pp. 1514-1538, **TD No. 996 (December 2014).**
- CIANI E., Retirement, Pension eligibility and home production, Labour Economics, v. 38, pp. 106-120, **TD** No. 1056 (March 2016).
- CIARLONE A. and V. MICELI, Escaping financial crises? Macro evidence from sovereign wealth funds' investment behaviour, Emerging Markets Review, v. 27, 2, pp. 169-196, **TD No. 972 (October 2014).**
- CORNELI F. and E. TARANTINO, *Sovereign debt and reserves with liquidity and productivity crises*, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 65, pp. 166-194, **TD No. 1012 (June 2015).**
- D'AURIZIO L. and D. DEPALO, An evaluation of the policies on repayment of government's trade debt in *Italy*, Italian Economic Journal, v. 2, 2, pp. 167-196, **TD No. 1061 (April 2016).**
- DE BLASIO G., G. MAGIO and C. MENON, Down and out in Italian towns: measuring the impact of economic downturns on crime, Economics Letters, 146, pp. 99-102, TD No. 925 (July 2013).
- DOTTORI D. and M. MANNA, *Strategy and tactics in public debt management*, Journal of Policy Modeling, v. 38, 1, pp. 1-25, **TD No. 1005 (March 2015).**

- LIBERATI D., M. MARINUCCI and G. M. TANZI, Science and technology parks in Italy: main features and analysis of their effects on hosted firms, Journal of Technology Transfer, v. 41, 4, pp. 694-729, **TD** No. 983 (November 2014).
- MARCELLINO M., M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Short-Term GDP forecasting with a mixed frequency dynamic factor model with stochastic volatility, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, v. 34, 1, pp. 118-127, **TD No. 896 (January 2013).**
- RODANO G., N. SERRANO-VELARDE and E. TARANTINO, *Bankruptcy law and bank financing*, Journal of Financial Economics, v. 120, 2, pp. 363-382, **TD No. 1013 (June 2015).**
- ZINNA G., *Price pressures on UK real rates: an empirical investigation,* Review of Finance,v. 20, 4, pp. 1587-1630, **TD No. 968 (July 2014).**

2017

- ADAMOPOULOU A. and G.M. TANZI, *Academic dropout and the great recession*, Journal of Human Capital, V. 11, 1, pp. 35–71, **TD No. 970 (October 2014).**
- ALBERTAZZI U., M. BOTTERO and G. SENE, *Information externalities in the credit market and the spell of credit rationing*, Journal of Financial Intermediation, v. 30, pp. 61–70, **TD No. 980 (November 2014).**
- ALESSANDRI P. and H. MUMTAZ, Financial indicators and density forecasts for US output and inflation, Review of Economic Dynamics, v. 24, pp. 66-78, **TD No. 977 (November 2014).**
- BARBIERI G., C. ROSSETTI and P. SESTITO, *Teacher motivation and student learning*, Politica economica/Journal of Economic Policy, v. 33, 1, pp.59-72, **TD No. 761 (June 2010).**
- BENTIVOGLI C. and M. LITTERIO, Foreign ownership and performance: evidence from a panel of Italian firms, International Journal of the Economics of Business, v. 24, 3, pp. 251-273, **TD No. 1085** (October 2016).
- BRONZINI R. and A. D'IGNAZIO, *Bank internationalisation and firm exports: evidence from matched firm-bank data*, Review of International Economics, v. 25, 3, pp. 476-499 **TD No. 1055 (March 2016).**
- BRUCHE M. and A. SEGURA, *Debt maturity and the liquidity of secondary debt markets*, Journal of Financial Economics, v. 124, 3, pp. 599-613, **TD No. 1049 (January 2016).**
- BURLON L., *Public expenditure distribution, voting, and growth,* Journal of Public Economic Theory,, v. 19, 4, pp. 789–810, **TD No. 961 (April 2014).**
- BURLON L., A. GERALI, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effectiveness of non-standard monetary policy and early exit. a model-based evaluation,* International Finance, v. 20, 2, pp.155-173, **TD No. 1074 (July 2016).**
- BUSETTI F., *Quantile aggregation of density forecasts,* Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 79, 4, pp. 495-512, **TD No. 979 (November 2014).**
- CESARONI T. and S. IEZZI, *The predictive content of business survey indicators: evidence from SIGE*, Journal of Business Cycle Research, v.13, 1, pp 75–104, **TD No. 1031 (October 2015).**
- CONTI P., D. MARELLA and A. NERI, Statistical matching and uncertainty analysis in combining household income and expenditure data, Statistical Methods & Applications, v. 26, 3, pp 485–505, **TD No. 1018 (July 2015).**
- D'AMURI F., *Monitoring and disincentives in containing paid sick leave*, Labour Economics, v. 49, pp. 74-83, **TD No. 787 (January 2011).**
- D'AMURI F. and J. MARCUCCI, *The predictive power of google searches in forecasting unemployment,* International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 4, pp. 801-816, **TD No. 891 (November 2012).**
- DE BLASIO G. and S. POY, *The impact of local minimum wages on employment: evidence from Italy in the* 1950s, Journal of Regional Science, v. 57, 1, pp. 48-74, **TD No. 953 (March 2014).**
- DEL GIOVANE P., A. NOBILI and F. M. SIGNORETTI, Assessing the sources of credit supply tightening: was the sovereign debt crisis different from Lehman?, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 13, 2, pp. 197-234, **TD No. 942 (November 2013).**
- DEL PRETE S., M. PAGNINI, P. ROSSI and V. VACCA, Lending organization and credit supply during the 2008–2009 crisis, Economic Notes, v. 46, 2, pp. 207–236, **TD No. 1108 (April 2017).**
- Delle Monache D. and I. Petrella, *Adaptive models and heavy tails with an application to inflation forecasting*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 2, pp. 482-501, **TD No. 1052 (March 2016).**

- FEDERICO S. and E. TOSTI, *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy*, The World Economy, v. 40, 10, pp. 2078-2096, **TD No. 877 (September 2012).**
- GIACOMELLI S. and C. MENON, *Does weak contract enforcement affect firm size? Evidence from the neighbour's court,* Journal of Economic Geography, v. 17, 6, pp. 1251-1282, **TD No. 898 (January 2013).**
- LOBERTO M. and C. PERRICONE, *Does trend inflation make a difference?*, Economic Modelling, v. 61, pp. 351–375, **TD No. 1033 (October 2015).**
- MANCINI A.L., C. MONFARDINI and S. PASQUA, *Is a good example the best sermon? Children's imitation of parental reading*, Review of Economics of the Household, v. 15, 3, pp 965–993, **D No. 958** (April 2014).
- MEEKS R., B. NELSON and P. ALESSANDRI, *Shadow banks and macroeconomic instability*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 49, 7, pp. 1483–1516, **TD No. 939 (November 2013).**
- MICUCCI G. and P. ROSSI, Debt restructuring and the role of banks' organizational structure and lending technologies, Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 51, 3, pp 339–361, **TD No. 763 (June 2010).**
- MOCETTI S., M. PAGNINI and E. SETTE, *Information technology and banking organization*, Journal of Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 51, pp. 313-338, **TD No. 752 (March 2010).**
- MOCETTI S. and E. VIVIANO, *Looking behind mortgage delinquencies*, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 75, pp. 53-63, **TD No. 999 (January 2015).**
- NOBILI A. and F. ZOLLINO, A structural model for the housing and credit market in Italy, Journal of Housing Economics, v. 36, pp. 73-87, **TD No. 887 (October 2012).**
- PALAZZO F., Search costs and the severity of adverse selection, Research in Economics, v. 71, 1, pp. 171-197, TD No. 1073 (July 2016).
- PATACCHINI E. and E. RAINONE, *Social ties and the demand for financial services*, Journal of Financial Services Research, v. 52, 1–2, pp 35–88, **TD No. 1115 (June 2017).**
- PATACCHINI E., E. RAINONE and Y. ZENOU, *Heterogeneous peer effects in education*, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, v. 134, pp. 190–227, **TD No. 1048 (January 2016).**
- SBRANA G., A. SILVESTRINI and F. VENDITTI, *Short-term inflation forecasting: the M.E.T.A. approach*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 33, 4, pp. 1065-1081, **TD No. 1016 (June 2015).**
- SEGURA A. and J. SUAREZ, *How excessive is banks' maturity transformation?*, Review of Financial Studies, v. 30, 10, pp. 3538–3580, **TD No. 1065 (April 2016).**
- VACCA V., An unexpected crisis? Looking at pricing effectiveness of heterogeneous banks, Economic Notes, v. 46, 2, pp. 171–206, **TD No. 814 (July 2011).**
- VERGARA CAFFARELI F., *One-way flow networks with decreasing returns to linking*, Dynamic Games and Applications, v. 7, 2, pp. 323-345, **TD No. 734 (November 2009).**
- ZAGHINI A., A Tale of fragmentation: corporate funding in the euro-area bond market, International Review of Financial Analysis, v. 49, pp. 59-68, **TD No. 1104 (February 2017).**

2018

- BELOTTI F. and G. ILARDI *Consistent inference in fixed-effects stochastic frontier models*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 202, 2, pp. 161-177, **TD No. 1147 (October 2017).**
- CARTA F. and M. DE PHLIPPIS, You've Come a long way, baby. husbands' commuting time and family labour supply, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 69, pp. 25-37, **TD No. 1003 (March 2015).**
- CARTA F. and L. RIZZICA, *Early kindergarten, maternal labor supply and children's outcomes: evidence from Italy,* Journal of Public Economics, v. 158, pp. 79-102, **TD No. 1030 (October 2015).**
- CECCHETTI S., F. NATOLI and L. SIGALOTTI, *Tail co-movement in inflation expectations as an indicator of anchoring,* International Journal of Central Banking, v. 14, 1, pp. 35-71, **TD No. 1025 (July 2015).**
- NUCCI F. and M. RIGGI, Labor force participation, wage rigidities, and inflation, Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 55, 3 pp. 274-292, **TD No. 1054 (March 2016).**
- SEGURA A., Why did sponsor banks rescue their SIVs?, Review of Finance, v. 22, 2, pp. 661-697, **TD No.** 1100 (February 2017).

- ADAMOPOULOU A. and E. KAYA, *Young Adults living with their parents and the influence of peers*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, **TD No. 1038 (November 2015).**
- ALBANESE G., G. DE BLASIO and P. SESTITO, *Trust, risk and time preferences: evidence from survey data,* International Review of Economics, **TD No. 911 (April 2013).**
- BARONE G., G. DE BLASIO and S. MOCETTI, *The real effects of credit crunch in the great recession: evidence from Italian provinces*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 1057 (March 2016).**
- BELOTTI F. and G. ILARDI, Consistent inference in fixed-effects stochastic frontier models, Journal of Econometrics, TD No. 1147 (October 2017).
- BERTON F., S. MOCETTI, A. PRESBITERO and M. RICHIARDI, *Banks, firms, and jobs,* Review of Financial Studies, **TD No. 1097 (February 2017).**
- BOFONDI M., L. CARPINELLI and E. SETTE, *Credit supply during a sovereign debt crisis*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 909 (April 2013).**
- BRILLI Y. and M. TONELLO, Does increasing compulsory education reduce or displace adolescent crime? New evidence from administrative and victimization data, CESifo Economic Studies, **TD No. 1008** (April 2015).
- CASIRAGHI M., E. GAIOTTI, L. RODANO and A. SECCHI, A "Reverse Robin Hood"? The distributional implications of non-standard monetary policy for Italian households, Journal of International Money and Finance, TD No. 1077 (July 2016).
- CIPRIANI M., A. GUARINO, G. GUAZZAROTTI, F. TAGLIATI and S. FISHER, *Informational contagion in the laboratory*, Review of Finance, **TD No. 1063 (April 2016).**
- D'AMURI F., Monitoring and disincentives in containing paid sick leave, Labour Economics, **TD No. 787** (January 2011).
- FEDERICO S. and E. TOSTI, *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy,* The World Economy, **TD No. 877 (September 2012).**
- GIACOMELLI S. and C. MENON, Does weak contract enforcement affect firm size? Evidence from the neighbour's court, Journal of Economic Geography, TD No. 898 (January 2013).
- NATOLI F. and L. SIGALOTTI, *Tail co-movement in inflation expectations as an indicator of anchoring,* International Journal of Central Banking, **TD No. 1025 (July 2015).**
- RIGGI M., Capital destruction, jobless recoveries, and the discipline device role of unemployment, Macroeconomic Dynamics, TD No. 871 (July 2012).
- SEGURA A., Why did sponsor banks rescue their SIVs?, Review of Finance, TD No. 1100 (February 2017).